UNIVERSIDAD DE CONCEPCIÓN



Centro de Investigación en Ingeniería Matemática (CI^2MA)



A short journey into the realm of numerical methods for contact in elastodynamics

FRANZ CHOULY

PREPRINT 2023-22

SERIE DE PRE-PUBLICACIONES

A short journey into the realm of numerical methods for contact in elastodynamics

Franz Chouly

 $CI^2MA \\ \texttt{franz.chouly@math.cnrs.fr}$

September 11, 2023

Introduction

The main objective of these lecture notes is to provide basic notions about the finite element discretization of frictionless contact in elastodynamics, to point out where the main problems may occur, and what are the possible remedies. They suppose a basic knowledge of elastodynamics and of the finite element method. It is also recommended to have some notions about unilateral contact in elastostatics (the so-called Signorini problem). They cover only frictionless contact, for the sake of simplicity.

Contents

1	Elastic membrane with dynamic contact	3
	1.1 Problem in strong form	3
	1.2 Well-posedness and energy conservation	4
2	A few notions about finite elements	6
3	Mixed and modified mass methods	8
4	Penalized contact	9
	4.1 Semi-discrete problem in time	9
	4.2 Midpoint for penalized contact	11
5	Nitsche and augmented Lagrangian	13
6	To conclude	14

1 Elastic membrane with dynamic contact

Let us introduce a simple model of (frictionless) dynamic contact. For this purpose we need first a domain Ω , that is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d , $d \geq 1$ (in practice, d = 1, 2 or 3). We suppose that Ω is non-empty and bounded. We denote by $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ the boundary of Ω . For d = 1 we take Ω as a finite union of open intervals. For d = 2, 3, the boundary Γ is supposed polytopal. The boundary is partitionned into three parts: Γ_D (Dirichlet boundary), Γ_N (Neumann boundary) and Γ_C (contact boundary).

1.1 Problem in strong form

We want to solve the following wave equation:

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} - c^2 \ \Delta u = f \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+_* \times \Omega, \tag{1}$$

complemented with the following boundary conditions:

$$u = 0$$
 on $\mathbb{R}^+_* \times \Gamma_D$, $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = 0$ on $\mathbb{R}^+_* \times \Gamma_N$, (2)

and

$$u \le 0, \quad \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} \le 0, \quad u \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = 0 \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^+_* \times \Gamma_C,$$
(3)

as well as initial conditions:

 ι

$$u(0) = u_0, \quad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(0) = v_0 \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
 (4)

Let us now spend some time to present the protagonists and explain the notations. First the solution is denoted by u and is a scalar field:

$$u: \mathbb{R}^+ \times \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}.$$

We will denote by u(t, x) its (scalar) value at time $t \ge 0$ and at point $x \in \overline{\Omega}$. The Laplace operator is denoted by Δ . The notation $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}$ is for the partial derivative in time and $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}$ is for the second-order partial derivative in time. The normal derivative is denoted by $\frac{\partial}{\partial n}$ and is defined as:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial n} := n \cdot \nabla$$

where ∇ is the gradient operator. The source term in (1) is denoted f (f : $\mathbb{R}^+_* \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$). The coefficient c > 0 in front of the Laplace operator in (1) is the wave speed.

We need two initial conditions, and we suppose the displacement is known at the initial time t = 0, and equal to u_0 , a given function. The same happens for the velocity, prescribed using the function v_0 . Conditions (2) are standard (homogeneous) Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions. Conditions (3) on the contact boundary Γ_C are Signorini conditions (see, e.g., [14, 16, 17, 25, 29]). In dimension d = 2, Problem (1)–(2)–(3)–(4) can represent the motion in time of a thin elastic membrane, with contact that can occur, or not, on Γ_C (the membrane can not penetrate a prescribed obstacle). In dimension d = 1, Problem (1)–(2)–(3)–(4) may represent an elastic bar, that cannot penetrate the rigid ground. To represent more complex situations, for instance three-dimensional elasticity, the Laplace operator needs to be replaced by, for instance, the small strain elasticity operator. We will see later on that, despite the above setting is simplified, it has retained all the worse numerical difficulties that occur in more complex or realistic situations.

This simplified model of contact in elastodynamics and needs to be differentiated from rigid body contact dynamics, where collisions may occur between rigid particles. In this latter situation, the model and the numerical issues are not the same.

For the purpose, it will be convenient to adopt the following convention, that will allow us to see the space-time field u as a function of time, only:

$$u: t \mapsto u(t) \in \overline{\Omega}$$

so we can say that

$$u(t)(x) = (u(t))(x) = u(t, x).$$

1.2 Well-posedness and energy conservation

We recall that for the Signorini problem that represents frictionless static contact, well-posedness is a standard result, coming from the Lions-Stampacchia theory [33] that emerged in the 60s [7, 29]. For contact conditions in the dynamic setting, well-posedness is much more difficult to establish, and, in fact, is still an open problem in a general setting.

However, in dimension one (d = 1) existence and uniqueness of the solution to Problem (1)-(2)-(3)-(4) has been proven in details in [10] (see also [9, 15, 30, 32] for other results, in more general settings).

For our purpose, let us just establish, formally, a result of energy conservation for Problem (1)–(2)–(3)–(4). We consider a fixed moment in time t > 0 and set f = 0 to simplify. We start from equation (1) and multiply each side by $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$:

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - c^2 \ (\Delta u) \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = 0.$$

We use the identity

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right)^2 = 2 \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$$

to get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right)^2 - c^2 \ (\Delta u)\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = 0.$$

We integrate over the whole domain Ω :

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right)^2 - c^2 \int_{\Omega} (\Delta u) \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = 0.$$

We then apply the Green formula to the second term:

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right)^2 + c^2 \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right) - c^2 \int_{\Gamma} (n \cdot \nabla u) \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right) = 0.$$
(5)

The first term in (5) can be transformed as

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right)^2.$$

For the second term in (5) let us rewrite it as follows:

$$c^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right) = c^{2} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \left(\frac{\partial \nabla u}{\partial t} \right) = \frac{c^{2}}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\partial \|\nabla u\|^{2}}{\partial t} \right) = \frac{c^{2}}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \|\nabla u\|^{2},$$

where $\|\nabla u\|$ denotes the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^d . The last term in (5), which is the boundary term is split according to the partition into Γ_D , Γ_N and Γ_C and we apply conditions (2) to get:

$$-c^2 \int_{\Gamma} (n \cdot \nabla u) \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right) = -c^2 \int_{\Gamma_C} (n \cdot \nabla u) \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right).$$

Now it is time to introduce the energy associated to Problem (1)-(2)-(3)-(4) as:

$$E(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(t) \right)^2 + \frac{c^2}{2} \int_{\Omega} \|\nabla u(t)\|^2 \tag{6}$$

for $t \ge 0$. People from physics are used to say that this is the sum of a kinetic energy and an elastic energy, but we will not enter into such subtelties here. We will just observe that (5) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(t) - c^2 \int_{\Gamma_C} (n \cdot \nabla u) \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right) = 0.$$
(7)

We finally use the persistency condition

$$\left(n \cdot \nabla u\right) \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right) = 0 \tag{8}$$

to conclude from (7) that

$$\frac{d}{dt}E(t) = 0.$$

And finally, by integration in time:

$$E(t) = E(0), \tag{9}$$

for $t \ge 0$, with E(0) that can be expressed as a function of the initial conditions (4).

If you have been attentive up to now, you have surely noticed that the persistency condition (8) is something nontrivial, that does not derive straight-forwardly from Signorini conditions (3). In fact, some extra effort needs to be done to establish them rigorously, even in simple situations, like in one dimension, see [10]. For the moment, we can simply take it as an assumption. Equation (9) traduces then that the contact forces do not produce work, or do not dissipate energy, so that the energy of the elastic bar or elastic membrane is exactly preserve. This is a remarkable property of this system, that we should try to preserve while discretizing. Particularly, this will help in establishing stable discretizations.

2 A few notions about finite elements

There are many ways to discretize Problem (1)-(2)-(3)-(4). Here we follow the most usual one, sometimes called the method of lines. First we discretize the spatial domain, here with finite elements, to obtain an evolution equation in t, for each nonnegative real value of t, and where the approximated unknown (here the displacement) lives in a vector space of finite dimension. This yields a semi-discrete problem in space, for which we will apply later on a time-marching scheme, in order to be able to find an approximate solution on a computer.

Various approximation techniques have been invented from the end of the nineteen century, so as to calculate effective approximate solutions. Among the most popular methods are the *finite difference method*, the *finite element method*, the *finite volume method* and the *spectral method* (but they are many many others in fact, and many more each passing decade). An introductive presentation to such methods is given for instance in the book of Martin Gander and Felix Kwok [18]. For references related to contact and friction in elastodynamics and variational, let us mention for instance [7, 19, 21, 22, 23, 29, 31, 36, 37].

The first step, is to decompose the domain Ω into small, simple cells. This process, in the FEM terminology, is called, *meshing*. So we introduce a *simplicial mesh* as a collection of simplices in \mathbb{R}^d that partition the domain Ω . We denote by K a given simplex in the mesh and denote by \mathcal{K}_h the collection of all the simplices in Ω (we will precise in a few minutes the meaning of the index h). The mesh needs to satisfy two conditions:

1. It should cover exactly the domain $\Omega:$

$$\overline{\Omega} := \bigcup_{K \in \mathcal{K}_h} K,$$

where the simplices K are supposed to be closed.

2. The intersection of two distinct simplices K and K' is either empty, or a simplex of dimension lower than d, that is common to both K and K'.

For each simplex K in the mesh, h_K denotes the maximal distance between two points inside K (it is the 'size' of K), and

$$h := \max_{K \in \mathcal{K}_h} h_K$$

is the global *size* of the mesh.

Before going further, let us be more explicit about these notions for problems in one or two dimensions. First in one dimension (d = 1) and for Ω that is an open interval, the different simplices K_1, \ldots, K_{N+1} are simply closed intervals, that cover Ω , and intersect each other only at both ends. We denote

$$x_i = K_i \cap K_{i+1}$$

the *nodes* of the mesh. Now, for problems in two dimensions, d = 2, simplices K are triangles. The intersection between two triangles is either empty, or a common vertex, or a common edge. The vertices of the triangles are also called the *nodes* of the mesh.

Now, from the mesh \mathcal{K}_h , we will build a finite dimensional space that we will call V_h , as follows. We define, now for every value of the dimension d, the nodes of the mesh as the vertices of the simplices. Let us denote them by x_1, \ldots, x_N . Let us define a family of *basis functions*

$$\varphi_1,\ldots,\varphi_N$$

such that

1. Each φ_i is globally continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$ and its restriction to each simplex K is a piecewise affine function (a polynomial function of degree at most 1):

$$\varphi_i|_K \in \mathbb{P}_1(K),$$

where $\mathbb{P}_1(K)$ is the space of (multivariate) polynomials of degree 1.

2. Each φ_i is equal to 1 at node x_i , and equal to 0 for the other nodes:

$$\varphi_i(x_i) = \delta_{ii},$$

where δ_{ij} is the Kronecker symbol.

From the two above properties, one can check directly that each φ_i has a *compact support* located on the *patch* ω_i of simplices that share the same vertex x_i . So this function vanishes everywhere except in simplices that are in the neighbourhood of the node x_i .

One can also check that the functions (φ_i) are linearly independent. Then we set

$$V_h := \operatorname{span}(\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_N).$$

In dimension 1, (φ_i) is the so-called family of hat functions, and in dimension 2, each φ_i is a pyramid of basis ω_i and height 1. One can also check that V_h

is the space of continuous functions that are affine on each simplex K. The terminology 'Lagrange' finite elements comes from the fact that it relies on piecewise polynomial Lagrange interpolation between the nodes of the mesh. In the sequel, we denote by V_h^D the subspace of V_h made of functions that vanish on the Dirichlet boundary Γ_D :

$$V_h^D := \{ v_h \in V_h \mid v_h = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_D \}.$$

We will denote by $N_D(\leq N)$ the dimension of this subspace. Moreover, let $u_h(t) \in V_h^D$ be the approximated solution to the dynamic contact Problem (1)–(2)–(3)–(4) at time t > 0. We will drop the notation (t) and note $u_h \in V_h^D$ in the following. We write

$$u_h = \sum_{j=1}^{N_D} U_j \varphi_j$$

and set **U** the column vector of size N_D that contains all the scalar unknowns (U_j) . Remark, that, due to the definition of the basis (φ_i) , we get the relationship

$$U_j = u_h(x_j),$$

for any index j. We say that the unknowns are *nodal* unknowns, since they simply represent the value of u_h at interior nodes.

3 Mixed and modified mass methods

Mixed methods are common to discretize contact problems [7, 22, 36] and more generally partial differential equations under constraints. For the Signorini problem (contact of an elastic body in the static case), they lead to stable and optimally convergent discretizations provided a discrete infsup condition is satisfied. So one can hope that such a behavior still holds in the dynamic case but it is not the case. Indeed, when Problem (1)-(2)-(3)-(4) is discretized with a mixed method, an ill-posed differential inclusion is obtained (see for instance [28]) with possibly an infinite number of solutions after each impact. As a result, when a time-marching scheme is applied, it tends to select with its own mood a solution among those possible, which leads ta an awkward numerical approximation. Particularly spurious oscillations contaminate the solution, artificial energy can be created, and what is worse, the numerical solution gets poorer if the time-step is reduced [5, 6, 10, 11, 13, 28].

More precisely, we can follow [28] and [27, Chapter 7]. We take the simple case where d = 1 and an elastic bar of length 1 is clamped on one extremity and is subjected to contact (Signorini) conditions on the other. Suppose that the corresponding elastic bar is discretized with only one element $(h = 1 \ !)$. In this case a simple mixed formulation yields:

$$mU + kU = \Lambda, \quad \Lambda = [rU - \Lambda]_+, \ \forall r > 0,$$
 (10)

complemented with initial conditions, and where U (displacement) and Λ (contact stress) are the scalar unknowns. The physical parameter m is the mass associated to the node, and k is the rigidity of the bar element (that acts like a spring in this case). The notation $[\cdot]_+$ stands for the positive part operator:

 $[x]_{+} = \max(0, x),$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Then in [27] follows an explicit calculation, from which is deduced that the discrete problem (10) admits an infinity of solutions.

A first remedy may consists in getting inspired from rigid body dynamics and introduce a restitution coefficient, as done in the Paoli-Schatzman scheme for instance [34, 35]. The difficulty that persists here is to find an ideal value of the restitution coefficient, that has no clear physical meaning here (it is not necessary to get well-posedness of the elastodynamic problem).

The modified mass technique, originated in [28] consists in removing the mass associated with the nodes on the contact boundary Γ_C in the mass matrix **M**. Indeed we observe in (10) that setting m = 0 allows to recover a well-posed problem (static contact). The modified mass method leads to a well-posed problem and allows to conserve a modified energy [28]. Moreover it improves drastically the behavior of the computed solution in practice, even with conservative time-marching schemes, and allows numerical stability and reduced spurious oscillations, that vanish when the discretization gets finer [6, 13]. A theoretical convergence result and some numerical experiments can be found in [10, 11], Many variants of this technique can be found now. Let us turn now to the case of penalized contact.

4 Penalized contact

Basically, and in its simpler form, penalized contact consists in approximating the Signorini conditions (3) by the following (nonlinear) equation:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = -\frac{1}{\epsilon} [u]_+,\tag{11}$$

where $[\cdot]_+$ is (still) the positive part and $\epsilon > 0$ the penalty parameter [29]. Roughly speaking, it penalizes the penetration into the rigid support. It is popular because simple and cheap. Moreover, it can be easily combined with an explicit time-marching scheme.

4.1 Semi-discrete problem in time

The semi-discrete in space penalized formulation for the dynamic contact Problem (1)-(2)-(3)-(4) consists in finding a semi-discrete displacement field

$$u_h: t \mapsto u_h(t) \in V_h^D$$

for any t > 0 that is solution to

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \int_{\Omega} u_h(t) v_h + c^2 \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_h(t) \cdot \nabla v_h + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h(t)]_+ v_h = \int_{\Omega} f(t) v_h, \ t > 0, \ (12)$$

for any $v_h \in V_h^D$. This needs to be complemented by initial conditions that approximate (4) and can be written as

$$u_h(0) = u_{h0}, \quad \frac{du_h}{dt}(0) = v_{h0}.$$
 (13)

The initial condition $u_{h0} \in V_h$, respectively $v_{h0} \in V_h$, is an approximation of the exact initial displacement u_0 , respectively velocity v_0 , that can be obtained, for instance, using Lagrange interpolation.

To build the formulation (12), we started from the heat equation (1) and the Green formula. Then we took into account the boundary conditions (2) and the penalized formulation (11) on the contact boundary. Finally, we made use of the Lagrange finite element space V_h , defined in 2, and built from a mesh \mathcal{K}_h of the domain Ω . In practice, the parameter ϵ is defined as

$$\epsilon = \epsilon_0 h,$$

with ϵ_0 user-defined, and set large enough to mimic the contact condition. The scaling as $\mathcal{O}(h)$ is needed for the convergence of the method when h vanishes [3, 29].

Using the Riesz representation theorem, the penalized formulation (12) can be recasted as

$$\mathbf{M}\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\mathbf{U}(t) + \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon}\mathbf{U}(t) = \mathbf{F}(t), \qquad (14)$$

where \mathbf{B}_{ϵ} is a nonlinear, Lipschitz operator (since the positive part operator is Lipschitz). Thus, insteady of the ugly, ill-posed, differential inclusion that popped out of the mixed formulation, we obtain here a friendly finite dimensional Lipschitz system of ordinary differential equations, well-posed thanks to the Cauchy-Lipschitz (Picard-Lindelof) theorem.

A second advantage is that a modified energy can be preserved. Indeed, let us define

$$E_h(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{du_h}{dt}(t) \right)^2 + \frac{c^2}{2} \int_{\Omega} \|\nabla u_h(t)\|^2$$

as a semi-discrete counterpart of E and

$$E_{h,\epsilon}(t) := E_h(t) + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h(t)]_+^2$$

a modified energy that, roughly speaking, store the work associated to (artificial) penetration. We prove now the following result of (perturbed) energy conservation.

Proposition 1 Suppose that f is identically equal to zero, then the following energy estimate holds, for all $t \ge 0$:

$$E_{h,\epsilon}(t) = E_{h,\epsilon}(0) \tag{15}$$

where the initial energy is given as a function of the initial displacement and velocity by

$$E_{h,\epsilon}(0) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (v_{h0})^2 + \frac{c^2}{2} \int_{\Omega} \|\nabla u_{h0}\|^2 + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} [u_{h0}]_+^2.$$

Proof. Let u_h be the solution to the penalized problem (12). For an arbitrary t > 0, we proceed in the same fashion as in Section 1 and obtain:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E_h(t) + \frac{1}{\epsilon}\int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h(t)]_+ \frac{d}{dt}u_h(t) = 0.$$

Then we use the identity

$$[u_h(t)]_+ \frac{d}{dt} u_h(t) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} [u_h(t)]_+^2$$

and this ends the proof. \Box

Remark that in the above result, there is no strictly speaking a persistency condition as in the continuous problem, which made the things a little bit more difficult. Of course, the term that appears on the contact boundary mimics a persistency condition when ϵ is small but is much easier to handle. We are now ready to discretize in time the penalized formulation.

4.2 Midpoint for penalized contact

Let us have a look now at discretization in time with the midpoint scheme, well-suited for elastodynamics: for standard boundary conditions, we know it conserves the energy, is unconditionally stable and second-order accurate. We take a time-step $\tau > 0$, and introduce a sequence of (fully discrete) displacements (u_h^n) , such that, for each n:

$$u_h^n \simeq u_h(t_n),$$

where $t_n = n\tau$. We introduce identically the notation \dot{u}_h^n for the approximated velocity and \ddot{u}_h^n for the approximated acceleration. It will be convenient as well to use the following notation:

$$u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{1}{2}(u_h^n + u_h^{n+1})$$

The midpoint scheme applied to the penalized formulation (12) reads, for $n \ge 0$:

$$\int_{\Omega} \ddot{u}_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} v_h + c^2 \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \nabla v_h + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}]_+ v_h = \int_{\Omega} f(t_{n+\frac{1}{2}}) v_h \qquad (16)$$

for $v_h \in V_h$, and along with the updates

$$u_h^{n+1} = u_h^n + \tau \dot{u}_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}$$
(17)

$$\dot{u}_{h}^{n+1} = \dot{u}_{h}^{n} + \tau \ddot{u}_{h}^{n+\frac{1}{2}}$$
(18)

and with initial conditions $u_h^0 = u_{h0}$, $\dot{u}_h^0 = v_{h0}$ and $\ddot{u}_h^0 = a_{h0}$ where a_{h0} is a given acceleration.

An argument for hemicontinuous strongly monotone operator [1] allows to ensure that the fully discrete problem (16) is well-posed whatever the values of $\epsilon > 0$ and $\tau > 0$ are, see [4, 5]. It can be solved then, at each time-step, with, for instance, a semi-smooth Newton method.

Let us now examine if energy preservation and numerical stability can be achieved for such a problem. For this purpose, let us introduce energies associated to the fully discrete solution:

$$E_{h}^{n} := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (u_{h}^{n})^{2} + \frac{c^{2}}{2} \int_{\Omega} \|\nabla u_{h}^{n}\|^{2}$$

as a fully discrete counterpart of E_h and

$$E_{h,\epsilon}^n := E_h^n + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h^n]_+^2.$$

Let us now check if there can be energy preservation. We choose

$$v_h = \tau \dot{u}_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} \in V_h$$

in (16) to compute the difference $E_{h,\epsilon}^{n+1} - E_{h,\epsilon}^n$ and get:

$$E_{h,\epsilon}^{n+1} - E_{h,\epsilon}^{n}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_{C}} [u_{h}^{n+\frac{1}{2}}]_{+} \tau \dot{u}_{h}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_{C}} [u_{h}^{n+1}]_{+}^{2} - \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_{C}} [u_{h}^{n}]_{+}^{2}.$$

Let us have a closer look at the first term. It can be rewritten using (17):

$$-\frac{1}{\epsilon}\int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}]_+ \tau \dot{u}_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} = -\frac{1}{\epsilon}\int_{\Gamma_C} [u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}]_+ (u_h^{n+1} - u_h^n).$$

Now, if we discuss the two cases $u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} > 0$ and $u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}} \le 0$, this allows to get

$$E_{h,\epsilon}^{n+1} - E_{h,\epsilon}^{n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} H(u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}) \left([u_h^{n+1}]_-^2 - [u_h^n]_-^2 \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} H(-u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}) \left([u_h^{n+1}]_+^2 - [u_h^n]_+^2 \right)$$

Above $H(\cdot)$ denotes the Heaviside function and $[\cdot]_-$ the negative part (for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, H(x) = x/|x| and $[x]_- = [x]_+ - x$). From the above calculation, we observe

that no energy preservation can be expected because of the contact term. And indeed, in practice, it is observed that the midpoint scheme is not capable of preserving the energy [6].

The morality is that, unfortunately, well-posedness and energy preservation at the semi-discrete level are not enough to ensure stability after application of a time-marching scheme. For penalty, this is not really surprising, since it regularizes the contact condition and one expects that, when ϵ vanishes the behavior of an (ill-posed) differential inclusion is recovered [13].

A first remedy is to apply once again the modified mass method, and everything gets once again in order. Another possibility, inspired by [20, 24] is to apply a Hybrid-Penalty scheme, where the contact term in (16) is replaced by

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_C} \left(H(u_h^n) [u_h^{n+\frac{1}{2}}]_+ + H(-u_h^n) [u_h]_+^{n+\frac{1}{2}} \right) v_h.$$

Roughly speaking, it activates either midpoint or Crank-Nicolson, depending of the state of penetration at the previous time-step. It can be shown with an argument very similar to the above one that this scheme is unconditionnally stable [6].

5 Nitsche and augmented Lagrangian

Nitsche method is a primal consistent method, that allows to take into account contact condition without any regularization procedure and without any extra unknown (see [7] and references therein for instance). For the semi-discretization in space of Problem (1)–(2)–(3)–(4), we introduce the Nitsche parameter $\gamma_0 > 0$ and write $\gamma_N := \gamma_0/h$. We define a modified bilinear form

$$A_N(u,v) := c^2 \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v - c^2 \int_{\Gamma_C} \frac{1}{\gamma_N} \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$$

and an operator

$$P_N(v) := \gamma_N v - \frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$$

The symmetric Nitsche formulation consists in finding a semi-discrete displacement field

$$u_h: t \mapsto u_h(t) \in V_h^D$$

for any t > 0 that is solution to

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \int_{\Omega} u_h(t) v_h + A_N(u_h(t), v_h) + \int_{\Gamma_C} \frac{1}{\gamma_N} [P_N(u_h(t))]_+ P_N(v_h) = \int_{\Omega} f(t) v_h, \ t > 0,$$
(19)

for any $v_h \in V_h^D$. This needs again to be complemented by initial conditions that approximate (4) and can be written as

$$u_h(0) = u_{h0}, \quad \frac{du_h}{dt}(0) = v_{h0}.$$
 (20)

When applied to contact in elastodynamics, the Nitsche method provides, as penalty, a well-posed semi-discrete problem is space and the symmetric variant of Nitsche presented here allows the preservation of a modified energy. Conversely to penalty, these properties need a Nitsche parameter γ_0 chosen large enough. When a time-marching scheme is applied, the same difficulties as for penalty appear and it needs to be combined with either a modified mass technique, or a Nitsche-Hybrid scheme. In comparison to penalty, it performs better in the sense it enforces more accurately the contact condition and it is much easier to fix the Nitsche parameter γ_0 than the penalty parameter ϵ_0 (because Nitsche is consistent). See [5, 6, 8] for a detailed study of this method.

Also, more recently, augmented Lagrangian formulations have been deeply revisited as a discretization technique for contact, see for instance [2]. A first study of the augmented Lagrangian in the context of contact in elastodynamics has been carried out in [26].

6 To conclude

We provided an insight into the numerical approximation of elastodynamic contact problems and tried to underline some of the difficulties that one is faced with for this problem. We also introduced some important concepts related to well-posedness and energy preservation. Many details have been skipped and in fact there are many other delicate issues, on both theoretical and applied sides. Among the recent trends in this topic are for instance new time-stepping techniques such as the Bathe scheme (TRBDF2) [26] or explicit schemes [8, 12].

*

References

- H. BREZIS, Équations et inéquations non linéaires dans les espaces vectoriels en dualité, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 18 (1968), pp. 115–175.
- [2] E. BURMAN, P. HANSBO, AND M. G. LARSON, The Augmented Lagrangian Method as a Framework for Stabilised Methods in Computational Mechanics, Arch. Comput. Methods Eng., 30 (2023), pp. 2579–2604.
- [3] F. CHOULY AND P. HILD, A Nitsche-based method for unilateral contact problems: numerical analysis, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 51 (2013), pp. 1295– 1307.
- [4] F. CHOULY AND P. HILD, On convergence of the penalty method for unilateral contact problems, Appl. Numer. Math., 65 (2013), pp. 27–40.
- [5] F. CHOULY, P. HILD, AND Y. RENARD, A Nitsche finite element method for dynamic contact: 1. Space semi-discretization and time-marching schemes, ESAIM Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 49 (2015), pp. 481–502.
- [6] —, A Nitsche finite element method for dynamic contact: 2. Stability of the schemes and numerical experiments, ESAIM Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 49 (2015), pp. 503–528.
- [7] —, Finite element approximation of contact and friction in elasticity, vol. 48 of Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics / Advances in Continuum Mechanics, Birkhäuser, Springer, 2023. ISBN 978-3-031-31422-3. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-31423-0, xxi+294 pages.
- [8] F. CHOULY AND Y. RENARD, Explicit Verlet time-integration for a Nitsche-based approximation of elastodynamic contact problems, Adv. Model. Simul. Eng. Sci., 5 (2018), pp. 1–38.
- [9] R. G. J. I. COOPER, Two variational inequality problems for the wave equation in a half-space, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 232 (1999), pp. 434–460.
- [10] F. DABAGHI, A. PETROV, J. POUSIN, AND Y. RENARD, Convergence of mass redistribution method for the one-dimensional wave equation with a unilateral constraint at the boundary, M2AN Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 48 (2014), pp. 1147–1169.
- [11] —, A robust finite element redistribution approach for elastodynamic contact problems, Appl. Numer. Math., 103 (2016), pp. 48–71.
- [12] N. DIRANI AND L. MONASSE, An explicit pseudo-energy conservative scheme for contact between deformable solids. https://hal.science/ hal-03879345, Nov. 2022.
- [13] D. DOYEN, A. ERN, AND S. PIPERNO, Time-integration schemes for the finite element dynamic Signorini problem, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 33 (2011), pp. 223–249.

- [14] G. DUVAUT AND J.-L. LIONS, Inequalities in mechanics and physics, vol. 219 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976.
- [15] C. ECK, J. JARUSEK, AND M. KRBEC, Unilateral contact problems, vol. 270 of Pure and Applied Mathematics (Boca Raton), Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2005.
- [16] G. FICHERA, Problemi elastostatici con vincoli unilaterali: Il problema di Signorini con ambigue condizioni al contorno, Atti della Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Memorie. Classe di Scienze Fisiche, Matematiche e Naturali. Sezione Ia. Matematica, Meccanica, Astronomia, Geodesia e, 7 (1963/1964), pp. 91–140.
- [17] G. FICHERA, Elastostatics problems with unilateral constraints: The Signorini problem with ambiguous boundary conditions, Aerospace Research Laboratories, Office of Aerospace Research, United States, 1964.
- [18] M. J. GANDER AND F. KWOK, Numerical analysis of partial differential equations using Maple and MATLAB, vol. 12 of Fundamentals of Algorithms, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2018.
- [19] R. GLOWINSKI AND P. LE TALLEC, Augmented Lagrangian and operatorsplitting methods in nonlinear mechanics, vol. 9 of SIAM Studies in Applied Mathematics, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1989.
- [20] O. GONZALEZ, Exact energy and momentum conserving algorithms for general models in nonlinear elasticity, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 190 (2000), pp. 1763–1783.
- [21] W. HAN AND M. SOFONEA, Quasistatic contact problems in viscoelasticity and viscoplasticity, vol. 30 of AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002.
- [22] J. HASLINGER, I. HLAVÁČEK, AND J. NEČAS, Numerical methods for unilateral problems in solid mechanics, vol. IV of Handbook of Numerical Analysis (eds. P.G. Ciarlet and J.L. Lions), North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1996.
- [23] J. HASLINGER, M. MIETTINEN, AND P. D. PANAGIOTOPOULOS, *Finite element method for hemivariational inequalities*, vol. 35 of Nonconvex Optimization and its Applications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1999.
- [24] P. HAURET AND P. LE TALLEC, Energy-controlling time integration methods for nonlinear elastodynamics and low-velocity impact, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg., 195 (2006), pp. 4890–4916.

- [25] I. HLAVÁCEK, J. HASLINGER, J. NECAS, AND J. LOVISEK, Solution of variational inequalities in mechanics, vol. 66 of Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1988.
- [26] H. HUANG, N. PIGNET, G. DROUET, AND F. CHOULY, HHT-α and TR-BDF2 schemes for dynamic contact problems. https://hal.science/ hal-04021471, Sept. 2023.
- [27] H. B. KHENOUS, Problèmes de contact unilatéral avec frottement de Coulomb en élastostatique et élastodynamique. Étude mathématique et résolution numérique., PhD thesis, INSA de Toulouse, 2005.
- [28] H. B. KHENOUS, P. LABORDE, AND Y. RENARD, Mass redistribution method for finite element contact problems in elastodynamics, Eur. J. Mech. A Solids, 27 (2008), pp. 918–932.
- [29] N. KIKUCHI AND J. T. ODEN, Contact problems in elasticity: a study of variational inequalities and finite element methods, vol. 8 of SIAM Studies in Applied Mathematics, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1988.
- [30] J. U. KIM, A boundary thin obstacle problem for a wave equation, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 14 (1989), pp. 1011–1026.
- [31] T. A. LAURSEN, Computational contact and impact mechanics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [32] G. LEBEAU AND M. SCHATZMAN, A wave problem in a half-space with a unilateral constraint at the boundary, J. Differential Equations, 53 (1984), pp. 309–361.
- [33] J.-L. LIONS AND G. STAMPACCHIA, Variational inequalities, Comm. Pure Applied Math., XX (1967), pp. 493–519.
- [34] L. PAOLI AND M. SCHATZMAN, A numerical scheme for impact problems. I. The one-dimensional case, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 40 (2002), pp. 702– 733.
- [35] —, A numerical scheme for impact problems. II. The multidimensional case, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 40 (2002), pp. 734–768.
- [36] B. I. WOHLMUTH, Variationally consistent discretization schemes and numerical algorithms for contact problems, Acta Numerica, 20 (2011), pp. 569–734.
- [37] P. WRIGGERS AND T. A. LAURSEN, Computational contact mechanics, vol. 2, Springer, 2006.

Centro de Investigación en Ingeniería Matemática (Cl²MA)

PRE-PUBLICACIONES 2023

- 2023-11 RAIMUND BÜRGER, JULIO CAREAGA, STEFAN DIEHL, ROMEL PINEDA: Numerical schemes for a moving-boundary convection-diffusion-reaction model of sequencing batch reactors
- 2023-12 RODOLFO ARAYA, ALFONSO CAIAZZO, FRANZ CHOULY: Stokes problem with slip boundary conditions using stabilized finite elements combined with Nitsche
- 2023-13 GABRIEL N. GATICA, CRISTIAN INZUNZA, FILANDER A. SEQUEIRA: New Banach spaces-based fully-mixed finite element methods for pseudostress-assisted diffusion problems
- 2023-14 JESSIKA CAMAÑO, RICARDO OYARZÚA, MIGUEL SERÓN, MANUEL SOLANO: A conforming finite element method for a nonisothermal fluid-membrane interaction
- 2023-15 JESSIKA CAMAÑO, RICARDO OYARZÚA: A conforming and mass conservative pseudostress-based mixed finite element method for Stokes
- 2023-16 SERGIO CARRASCO, SERGIO CAUCAO, GABRIEL N. GATICA: New mixed finite element methods for the coupled convective Brinkman-Forchheimer and double-diffusion equations
- 2023-17 GABRIEL N. GATICA, ZEINAB GHARIBI: A Banach spaces-based fully mixed virtual element method for the stationary two-dimensional Boussinesq equations
- 2023-18 LEONARDO E. FIGUEROA: Weighted Sobolev orthogonal polynomials and approximation in the ball
- 2023-19 ISAAC BERMUDEZ, CLAUDIO I. CORREA, GABRIEL N. GATICA, JUAN P. SILVA: A perturbed twofold saddle point-based mixed finite element method for the Navier-Stokes equations with variable viscosity
- 2023-20 PAOLA GOATIN, DANIEL INZUNZA, LUIS M. VILLADA: Nonlocal macroscopic models of multi-population pedestrian flows for walking facilities optimization
- 2023-21 BOUMEDIENE CHENTOUF, AISSA GUESMIA, MAURICIO SEPÚLVEDA, RODRIGO VÉ-JAR: Boundary stabilization of the Korteweg-de Vries-Burgers equation with an infinite memory-type control and applications: a qualitative and numerical analysis
- 2023-22 FRANZ CHOULY: A short journey into the realm of numerical methods for contact in elastodynamics

Para obtener copias de las Pre-Publicaciones, escribir o llamar a: DIRECTOR, CENTRO DE INVESTIGACIÓN EN INGENIERÍA MATEMÁTICA, UNIVERSIDAD DE CONCEPCIÓN, CASILLA 160-C, CONCEPCIÓN, CHILE, TEL.: 41-2661324, o bien, visitar la página web del centro: http://www.ci2ma.udec.cl









Centro de Investigación en Ingeniería Matemática (CI²MA) **Universidad de Concepción**

Casilla 160-C, Concepción, Chile Tel.: 56-41-2661324/2661554/2661316http://www.ci2ma.udec.cl





